1952

In the Matter of the Adoption of Sally Ann Druce : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

--	----

In the Supreme Court of the State of Utah

INTHEMATTER OF THE ADOPTION

OF

SALLY ANN DRUCE, A Minor.

Case No. 7864

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On October 23, 1951 Sheldon A. Jacobsen and Ruby H. Jacobsen, his wife, through their attorneys, Young, Young and Sorensen filed their petition in the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District, in and for Utah County, State of Utah, petitioning the court for the adoption of Sally Ann Druce, a minor of the age of three years, which child was born issue of the marriage of Charles R. Druce and Merlyn Druce, and was born on the 20th day of April, 1948 (Tr. 3). That on the same day said petition was filed in said court, the mother of said minor child, Merlyn Druce, appeared in court and signed a consent for the adoption of said child.

That while said petition was still pending, the Appellant, and mother of said child, Merlyn Druce filed her answer to the petition of Respondents on the 9th day of February, 1952, alleging therein that said petition for adoption fails to state facts, or a claim upon which relief can be granted. Admitting that said child is a minor or the age of three years and that she is the child of Appellant, Merlyn Druce, and that said child is in the custody of Respondents and has resided in their home for eleven months, and did further admit and deny other allegations in said petition for adoption, which is revealed by said answer of appellant to said petition.

That on March the 8th, 1952, Appellant served and filed an amended answer to petition for adoption by the said respondents of the said child Sally Ann Druce in which she admits that said petitioners are husband and wife and that they have resided in Provo and their respective ages and are citizens of the United States and that the said minor child was born on the 20th day of April, 1948 in Salt Lake County, Utah and that said minor child has resided with respondents for several months last past.

She further admits that she did at one time give her consent to the adoption of said minor child by respondents, but under circumstances which she sets forth further in said amended answer and she further denies that it is for the best interest of said minor child to be adopted by respondents.

In paragraph one of her affirmative defense to said petition she alleges that said petition of respondents fails to state facts, or a claim upon which the relief claimed for by respondents can be granted.

In paragraph 2 of said affirmative defense she alleges the birth of said minor child as the issue of the marriage of herself and Charles A. Druce and in paragraph 3 of said affirmative defense she alleges that shortly after the birth of said child the father of said minor child deserted and abandoned the Appellant and has remained away ever since and has done nothing for the support of herself and said minor child and is in the military service of the United States, and because of her financial condition she was compelled to place said minor child with her maternal grandparent with whom she was residing and that she did assist her grandmother in caring for said minor child, but due to some differences she had with her grandmother she was compelled to leave the home of her grandmother and did leave the child with said grandparent, and that Appellant did take said child later and place same in a day nursery, and that said grandparent did, without the consent of Appellant take said child from said day nursery and place the same with respondents to care for said minor child.

In paragraph 4 of said affirmative answer appellant alleges that because of her financial condition and her emotional upsets and the constant persuasions of the attorney for respondents to get her to consent to the adoption of said minor child, and advising her that it was for the best interests of said minor child, she did give her consent in writing to the adoption of said minor child.

In paragraph 5 of said affirmative defense, she alleges that since she did give her consent to the adoption of said minor child, her financial condition has changed for the better

and she was then in a position to properly provide for said minor child and therein did revoke her consent to the adoption of said minor child by said respondents and that she is a fit and proper person to have the custody of said minor child and so prays the court to permit her to revoke her consent for the adoption of said minor child and have said child returned to her.

Respondents filed their reply to said amended answer of Appellant in which they deny that the consent for adoption obtained from said Appellant was obtained by persuasion or coercion on the part of respondents and that it is for the best interests of said minor child to have respondents adopt it and generally admit the allegations in said affirmative defense set forth save and except that they deny that the said Appellant is in a financial condition to properly care for said child and that she has a right to rescind her consent for the adoption of said minor child by respondents, or that she is a fit and proper person to care for said minor child.

Pursuant to the foregoing, the matter was set for trial before the court on the 24th day of March, 1952, and the parties thereto being present with their respective counsel and their witnesses and a trial was had thereon and on the 30th day of April, 1952 the court rendered its decision and concluded that respondents had in all ways complied with the statutory requirements having to do with the adoption of said minor child and that they were fit and proper persons to adopt said minor child.

That said Appellant did on the 23rd day of October, 1951 freely and voluntarily give her consent in open court for the

adoption of her child by said respondents and that no undue influence or coercion was used on Appellant to induce her to give said consent for adoption.

That Appellant's moral behavior has not changed since October 23, 1951 and her financial condition has not improved since that time.

That it is for the best interests of said child to have said respondents adopt said minor child.

That the father of said minor child has now given his consent for the adoption of said minor child by said petitioners.

That the court did make and enter its findings of fact in conformity therewith, and entered its decree accordingly.

From said findings of fact and conclusions of law and decree of the court the mother of said minor child, Merlyn Druce, takes this appeal.

The evidence in this case respectfully shows that Merlyn Druce, Appellant herein, has resided with her grandmother most of her life, her mother having died when she was six years old and she never knew her father (Tr. 28). That in 1947 she married one Charles Druce and that she lived with him only three months when they separated. They went back to live together intermittently until the child in question, Sally Ann Druce, was born on April 20, 1948. That thereafter the said Charles A. Druce lived with Appellant for about three weeks and then left her and has not lived with her since (Tr. 29). Appellant then went back to live with her grandmother and took the child with her. Her husband

has never contributed to the support of Appellant of their child since its birth with the exception of buying the child a dress on its first birthday and some little groceries (Tr. 52).

Appellant then went back to live with her grandmother and took her child with her. The child remained with the grandmother for about two years, when said child was placed with respondents at Provo, Utah, for them to care for her (Tr. 30). The child was placed with respondents by the grandmother because the grandmother felt she could no longer care for the child and the respondents consented to take and care for the child. The child was placed with respondents without the knowledge or consent of the Appellant and she did not know the child was with respondents until January, 1951 (Tr. 30-31).

During the time appellant and her child were living with her grandmother she did what she could to repay her grandmother for her confinement expenses and the support of the child, but due to her financial condition she was compelled to impose upon her grandmother to take care of the child (Tr. 30).

There was apparently no arrangements made or any understanding had with the Appellant for the adoption of this child at that time, nor at any time, until the appellant was persuaded and coerced by the attorney for respondents and the respondents themselves, to give her consent to the adoption of this child. The child lived in the home of the respondents for some eleven months and they decided they wanted to adopt the child and then took the steps to persuade the appellant to give her consent to this adoption.

In January, 1951, Mr. Young, respondents' attorney, called on Appellant and advised her that respondents wanted to adopt the child and had to have her consent and that it was for the child's benefit to have them adopt her. Appellant then stated that she would not give her consent to adopt the child (Tr. 31).

Within the next three weeks Mr. Young called on Appellant several times trying to persuade her to sign the consent for the adoption of this child and in response to the following questions she replied (Tr. 32-33):

Q. Was it in Salt Lake or Provo?

A. Yes, it was in Salt Lake.

Q. All right, what took place then?

A. Well, again he asked me if I would sign the adoption papers. Told me that it was selfish of me to want to deprive Sally of the things I couldn't give her because I didn't have the money or means.

Q. What did you say to him?

A. I wouldn't sign them then.

After this refusal, Mr. Young kept coming to see Appellant and trying to persuade her to sign her consent to this adoption (Tr. 33-34-35).

Q. You didn't have a home for Sally at that time, did you?

A. No, I didn't.

Q. Now, when did you see him again?

A. I believe I came down to Provo with him again.

Q. Did he come up to get you?

A. Yes.

Q. For what purpose?

A. To bring me down here.

Q. What was your conversation with him then?

A. The same thing, why wouldn't I sign, because it was better for Sally and better for me, and that I had nothing to give her, nothing to offer her.

Q. Pursuant to that what did you do?

A. I still did not sign. I said I probably would because I didn't have a place to take her, it was true, and I said I would consent to—I would think it over.

Q. About how long after that when you came to Provo and he took you back was it that you saw him again at your home in Salt Lake, if you know?

A. About three months.

Q. What was said then?

A. Oh, I consented to sign the papers then, and we came down to Provo, and I came in this very same room I think, I believe, I don't know, and signed the papers.

Q. And did you sign them?

A. Yes.

Q. Why did you necessarily sign them?

A. Because I didn't feel I could take care of Sally.

Mr. Young, respondents' attorney, worked on appellant trying to get her to give her consent to this adoption over a period of a year (Tr. 52).

Q. Now, about how many times did Mr. Young come

to see you regarding the adoption of this child and getting the consent?

A. About five times.

Q. Over a period of a year?

A. Over a period of a year.

Besides the efforts of Mr. Young, appellant's family used their influence upon appellant trying to get her to give her consent to this adoption, and she refused. Upon cross-examination appellant testified (Tr. 45):

Q. You didn't tell them you had been coerced into consenting, did you?

A. No.

Q. You told them you thought it was for the best interest of the child that be done, didn't you?

A. I told them I couldn't fight because I didn't have the money to fight with, no place to take Sally.

Q. And at that time didn't you tell them that you had no place to take the child and you weren't even going to contest the adoption matter?

A. I told them I wasn't in any position to do anything. (Tr. 48).

Q. What yid you tell them?

A. I remember that they came up and we were talking outside in the car and they wanted to know what I was going to do, just what I was going to do, and I said I didn't know, I wasn't in any position to say anything or do anything. (Tr. 48).

Again on redirect examination appellant testified as follows (Tr. 50):

Q. Mrs. Druce, when you appeared in court to sign this consent what remark was made by Mr. Young after the consent was signed about obtaining this consent?

A. Well, I remember that Mr. Young was awfully glad to get it and he had been working some time on it, and he said he had been working some time, if you remember, Mr. Young; and I believe it is the same Judge, and you said, "Well, I have been a year or approximately a year on this, I should get a thousand dollars for it."

Q. Now, did anybody else use any persuasions or influence upon you to sign this consent?

A. Why, of course, they were after me from January, 1951 until I signed the consent.

Appellant was persuaded and coerced by all of her relatives, her grandmother, Mr. Young and the respondents, to permit the respondents to adopt this child. Although appellant loved her child, she was not in a position financially to properly care for the child at that time and because of her financial position and her emotional upset by being continually harassed to give her consent she did so, but the evidence clearly shows that it was not willingly done (Tr. 51-52-53). The grandmother was tired of caring for the child and she was desirous of being relieved of this burden and did all she could to get the child adopted out. To confirm this fact Mrs. Jacobsen was asked as follows (Tr. 83):

Q. And you didn't know when you took the child whether you could adopt the child or not, did you?

A. No, we did not.

Q. You weren't even promised you could?

- A. The grandmother promised us if Merly didn't come back and help to raise her that she would do everything in her power to help us adopt her.

The appellant was recalled to the stand and testified as follows (Tr. 124-125):

- Q. Did you have a talk with Mrs. Jacobsen before you signed this consent with relation to whether there could be trouble or she was going to fight you if you didn't sign this consent?

- A. I was told by my grandmother that it would be impossible for me to take Sally Ann out of the Jacobsen home before this consent was ever signed. I was told I couldn't take her without signing it because of my past actions.

- Q. Now, you heard the testimony, Merlyn, about them coming up to the place where you lived and talking with you in the automobile?

- A. Yes.

- Q. What did they say then about creating some trouble for you?

- A. They said—well, this is just the exact words, "If there is any trouble we will just have to put you in jail, that's all," because of this bigamist position I am supposed to be living in or was at that time they supposed. And I stated I wasn't in any position to make them any trouble really, but I told Mrs. Gudmundson at the time that I did want Sally, that I did want her, but I didn't see how I could fight anyone with any money, or I didn't know what to do. I just didn't know what to do, I said.

- Q. But they did tell you you would go to jail if you attempted to fight this case?

- A. They said, "Well, you couldn't make too much

trouble, Merlyn, because we would just have to put you in jail, that's all."

Respondents, through their respective witnesses, including the grandmother of appellant and her sister have attempted to show that appellant was not a fit and proper person to have the custody of this child and in support of this proposition testified that appellant was never attentive to her child and did not come home to care for the child or visit with it only seldomly and her conduct was such by way of drinking beer and staying out late at nights and on one occasion was supposed to have been caught in a compromising position with a boy friend she was going with (Tr. 121). This was by her half sister, but appellant denied this (Tr. 125-126). There is little evidence in the whole record to show that appellant is an unfit mother to have her child. She was in unfortunate circumstances and a victim of such, but there is no evidence produced by respondents to show that she was an unfit person or unfit to have her child.

At the time appellant signed the consent for the adoption of her child, she met a young man by the name of Jack Farrer who wanted to marry her, and she, acting under a misapprehension about her marriage to Charles Druce, went through a marriage ceremony with the said Jack Farrer and lived with him a short while, until it was brought to her attention that she was still the wife of Charles Druce. Her own husband, Charles Druce, and her grandmother likewise led her to believe she was not married to Charles Druce (Tr. 56-57-58).

Appellant testified that she was under age when she married Charles Druce and her grandmother objected very

much to it. That after they came home and separated the grandmother would not let Charles Druce come to her home to see the appellant or his baby (Tr. 56). She further testified that she was under the impression she was not married to Charles Druce as follows:

Q. Now, Mrs. Druce, after you married Mr. Druce and you came back home, what took place between you and your grandmother about this marriage?

A. Grandmother and I fought about the marriage to begin with. . . etc.

Q. I am talking about, Mrs. Druce, with relation to the validity of your marriage to him.

A. I was under the impression until we found out that I wasn't married to him.

Q. What led you to that impression, what facts?

A. The fact that he told me I wasn't. That is why I never got any money out of him. And that it is just all mixed up, he told me I wasn't married to him, and between him and my folks I didn't know what it was, where I stood.

Q. What did your grandmother do about your marriage?

A. Grandmother had me to an attorney at one time; I don't know his name, I don't remember.

Q. Did she tell you you weren't married to Charlie?

A. Not actually come right out and tell me.

Q. Did she tell you she had procured an annulment?

A. Yes, she said she was going to have one.

Q. When you went through this marriage ceremony with Mr. Farrer, were you under the impression at that time you were not married to Charlie?

A. I was under the impression that I wasn't.

Q. When did you find out to the contrary?

A. The date, it was the 15th of February, around the 15th of February.

Q. What was the occasion for your finding that out?

A. I wanted to withdraw my consent to this adoption. The people dug into it and found out, and my mother-in-law, Jack's mother phoned to Elko and found out that the marriage was good.

Appellant further testified that since she found out her marriage to Farrer was not good she did everything she could to procure a divorce from her husband, Charles Druce, so that should could properly marry Jack Farrer. That Charles Druce was in the army and he would do nothing toward assisting her by letting her get a divorce. That she had tried to contact him to get him to sign a waiver, but she could not find him, nor would his people tell her where he was, and they finally informed her that her husband was not interested and he would not do anything about it. Druce later came home at the time of this hearing and he still would not do anything to let her have a divorce. He was in the army and she could not sue him unless he signed a waiver. She further testified that the said Jack Farrer wanted to properly marry her and that he was earning sufficient to care for her and the baby and provide a home for them (Tr. 57-58).

Pursuant to the foregoing the court took the matter under advisement and later rendered its judgment, denying to the appellant her right to withdraw her consent to the adoption. That no undue influence or coercion was used upon appellant

to obtain her consent, and she had freely and voluntarily gave her consent to the adoption; that it is for the best interests of said child that she be adopted by the respondents and accordingly entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law and decree herein (Tr. 142-143-144-145-146-147-148-149-150).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE OBJECTION OF APPELLANT TO THE INTRODUCTION OF ANY EVIDENCE ON THE PART OF RESPONDENTS FOR THE REASON THAT THE PETITION OF RESPONDENTS DOES NOT STATE FACTS SUFFICIENT TO ENTITLE THE PETITIONERS TO RELIEF.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN ENTERING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND JUDGMENT THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT A FIT AND PROPER PERSON TO HAVE THE CARE AND CUSTODY OF HER MINOR CHILD, SALLY ANN DRUCE.

POINT III.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ENTERING ITS JUDGMENT THAT THE APPELLANT VOLUNTARILY

AND WITHOUT COERCION, DURESS OR PERSUASION GAVE HER VOLUNTARY CONSENT TO PETITIONERS FOR THE ADOPTION OF HER MINOR CHILD.

POINT IV.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ENTERING ITS JUDGMENT DENYING THE RIGHT OF THE APPELLANT TO WITHDRAW HER CONSENT FOR ADOPTION OF HER MINOR CHILD BY RESPONDENTS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

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