1952

# In the Matter of the Adoption of Sally Ann Druce : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

APPELLANT'S FIRST CONTENTION IS THAT THE PETITION FILED BY RESPONDENTS IS INSUFFICIENT TO GIVE THE COURT JURISDICTION AND THIS ARGUMENT IS PREMISED ON THE GROUND THAT PETITION DOES NOT ALLEGE THAT THE CONSENT OF THE FATHER HAS BEEN OBTAINED.

THE CONSENT OF NATURAL PARENTS IN AN ADOPTION CASE IS A MATTER OF PROCEDURE UNDER THE STATUTE, AND NOT OF PLEADING. AN ADOPTION PETITION IS NOT SUBJECT TO A MOTION TO DISMISS BECAUSE THERE IS NO ALLEGATION THAT CONSENT OF NATURAL PARENTS HAS BEEN OBTAINED.

The attorney for Appellant seems to misconceive the issues in this case. Counsel argues in his brief now as he did at the inception of this case, that because we had not at that time obtained the consent of the father, that our petition was insufficient. We realized, perhaps even better than counsel for Appellant, that the adoption proceed-

ings could not be completed without the consent of the father. Had we had his consent, the decree of adoption would have been entered long before Appellant had a change of mind. Counsel for Appellant has never represented Charles Druce, father of the child, and we submit that his contention is untenable.

For a long time we could not locate the father of the child and when we were able to locate him, we learned that he was in Korea serving in the United States Armed Forces. We therefore felt that the Court would not look with favor upon any petition which sought to have the Court enter a decree that the father had deserted the child. We believe that the father would, on his return, give his consent to the adoption and in this belief, events have proved that we were right. It was while awaiting his return that Appellant filed what she characterized "Answer to Petition for Adoption of a Minor Child." Actually, this so-called Answer should have been denominated a petition to revoke Appellant's consent but whatever its proper nomenclature, it was clearly understood that the issues and pleadings raised two questions. First: Did Appellant have the right to revoke her consent to the adoption? Second: If she had that right, was she a fit and proper person

to have custody of the minor child?

Counsel for Appellant seemed to recognize that these were the issues as shown by his pleadings and also as shown by his statement at the conclusion of the trial, in which counsel for Appellant stated: "I take it that the purpose of this hearing today is asking the Court to determine whether Merlyn is a fit and proper person to have this child?" and to which counsel for Respondents replied, "Yes, and as to whether she can now withdraw her consent already given." (Tr. 110).

## II.

APPELLANT, BY HER PLEADINGS, RAISES THE QUESTION AS TO WHETHER SHE WAS A FIT AND PROPER PERSON TO HAVE THE CARE AND CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILD AND THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE LAW WERE RESPONSIVE TO THE ISSUE THUS RAISED.

Under Point II. counsel for Appellant argues that the proceedings were not had to determine whether Appellant was a fit and proper person to have custody of her child. We submit that this issue was raised by Appellant in her pleadings

and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Decree are in conformity with the issue thus raised. Counsel seems to recognize that this is so because he proceeds to dwell upon that part of the evidence in an attempt to show that Appellant was and is a fit and proper person to have the care and custody of the minor child.

Counsel cites the case of *Stuber vs. Stuber*, 244 Pac. 2d 650 for the proposition that merely because the mother of the child lived with a man whom she expected to marry does not in itself make her an unfit and improper person to have the custody of the child. With that proposition we have no argument, provided that the mother is otherwise qualified. The facts in this case are quite different than in the *Stuber* case. In this case, the Appellant associated almost constantly for approximately three years with a man other than the one she entered into a purported marriage with and during this period drank intoxicating liquor nearly every night and seldom returned to her home where her child was living earlier than 2:00 A.M. (Tr. 44-45-46, 71-72). Her whole attitude toward the child has been one of indifference and she has shown a total lack of filial attachment for the child. Appellant may not, as urged by her counsel, have had illicit relations

with Lee James, but the circumstantial evidence as pointed out herein would indicate otherwise.

Appellant cites the case of *Cooke vs. Cooke, et al.*, 67 Utah 571, 248 Pac. 83 and we adopt what was therein stated and submit that the evidence in this case is positive and not speculative as to the unfitness of the Appellant.

We recognize that, even though the evidence shows Appellant has been indifferent to the welfare of her child and that she is morally unfit to have its custody, if she has a right to revoke the consent these factors would not prevent her from so doing. But as will be hereinafter pointed out, the welfare of the child is a determining factor as to whether consent may be revoked.

### III.

THE RECORD DISCLOSES THAT APPELLANT FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY AND WITHOUT COERCION CONSENTED TO THE ADOPTION OF THE MINOR CHILD.

Appellant's first paragraph of his argument on this point has nothing to do with the question of coercion, duress, or persuasion but the state-

ments therein contained are so erroneous that we cannot let them go unchallenged. Contrary to what counsel for Appellant states, Sally was not taken from the nursery home by the grandmother, and the child was in the grandmother's home approximately one year after its return by Appellant from the nursery to the grandmother's home. The Court found such to be the case.

We now address ourselves to the question of coercion. In our Statement of Facts, we have set out nearly all, if not all, of the evidence concerning the question of coercion. Appellant claims that the attorney for Respondents and that Appellant's relatives coerced her into signing the consent to adoption. Appellant's own testimony shows that this attorney called on her five times during the course of about nine months (Tr. 30). Appellant states that she refused to sign any adoption papers on each of the first four visits but that on the fifth visit she agreed to go to Provo and sign the consent that the child be adopted. Appellant stated that three months elapsed between the fourth and fifth visits and that the attorney had not been in her presence more than one minute when she agreed to consent to the adoption (Tr. 21). The evidence quoted in the Statement of Facts shows that after the consent had been signed in open Court, Ap-

pellant was taken to her relatives and that in their presence she stated that it was in the best interests of Sally that the Jacobsens adopt the child (Tr. 25).

The grandmother is accused by counsel for Appellant of exerting coercion upon Appellant to consent to the adoption. The grandmother testified that after the Jacobsens took the baby, she did not see much of Appellant thereafter (Tr. 91) and we submit that the most that can be said about the grandmother's attitude and that of Appellant's aunts is that they were concerned about the welfare of the child and requested Appellant to either give the child a mother's love and attention or permit its adoption (Tr. 85-96). Other matters quoted by Appellant in her brief regarding the matter of coercion occurred some time after October 25, 1951, when her consent was given.

We are not clear as to why counsel for Appellant cites the cases of *Taylor vs. Waddoups*, found in 241 Pac. 2d 157, but whatever his purpose we feel the case supports our position. Mr. Chief Justice Wolfe, in his opinion, quotes Section 14-4-9, Utah Code Annotated 1943, hereinafter set forth verbatim and which in effect provides that the Court must examine all persons appearing before

it, separately. In obtaining Appellant's consent we did exactly what Section 14-4-9 requires and what the Court said in *Taylor vs. Waddoups* should be done. We think it must be assumed that when Appellant went into Court and gave her consent, that the Court discharged its duty. The Court saw her demeanor on the stand and explained to Appellant what would be the effect of her consent. There is not the slightest evidence in this record that on the day that Appellant gave her consent that she was under any strain or that she was suffering from discouragement or despair. On the contrary, the record is replete with evidence that she knew what she was doing, that she felt it was in the best interests of the child, and that her consent was voluntarily and freely given. The case of *Bilderback, et al. vs. Clark, et al.*, 189 Pac. 977 is not in point, but we agree with the sentence extracted from that opinion, which is found in Appellant's brief.

#### IV.

THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT APPELLANT COULD NOT ARBITRARILY REVOKE HER CONSENT TO THE ADOPTION WAS CORRECT.

Before proceeding with our argument in support of our position that a parent may not arbitrarily revoke consent to the adoption where the consent has been freely given, we at the outset concede that adoption was unknown at common law and that the statutes must be strictly followed. In many of the cases to which reference will be made hereafter, the decisions turn upon the wording of the statutes and we think the decision in this case is also largely controlled by our statutes. Later we shall set forth those sections of our statutes having to do with adoption proceedings, but for the present we call attention to the case of *Stanford vs. Gray*, 42 Utah 228, 129 Pac. 423 which case interprets Sections 14-7-41 and 14-7-42, Utah Code Annotated 1943.

The plaintiff instituted suit in habeas corpus in the State of Utah to recover a minor child born out of wedlock. The mother, while living in California, wrote to the California Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children asking the Society to find someone willing to adopt the child. Later she signed an agreement authorizing the Society to place the child with someone for adoption and waiving notice of the hearing on the proceeding for adoption. The defendants were at that time living in California and the child was placed

in their home and later they moved to Salt Lake City. The plaintiff came to Salt Lake and instituted proceedings to recover the child. The lower court granted the writ. Our Supreme Court reversed the lower court and in its opinion, stated that it assumed that the laws of California were the same as those of Utah unless the contrary was shown, and the Court interpreted Section 720x27 Compiled Laws of Utah 1907, which is now Section 14-7-41 and Section 14-7-42 Utah Code Annotated 1943. In this case the mother sought to have her consent set aside, claiming that she executed the agreement under irresistible pressure of circumstances and that her mind at the time she signed the document was, and for several weeks prior thereto had been excited and disordered. The Supreme Court found this issue against her.

“We now come to the question of whether, under all of the facts and circumstances as disclosed by the record, the social and intellectual training, as well as the future happiness, of the child, would be better promoted by restoring it to the custody of Mrs. Hansen than by leaving it in the care, control and custody of appellants. As we have pointed out, the weight of authority, which of course includes the better reasoned cases, holds that.

where a parent in writing voluntarily relinquishes and surrenders the custody of his infant child to the custody of another, he cannot recover the custody of the child in his own right: and, where the parent in such case comes before the court seeking to recover the custody of the child the burden is on him to show, not on his own behalf, but on behalf of the child, that it is not receiving the proper care, or that its physical, moral and intellectual training is not what it should be. The right, therefore, of a parent in such case to the custody of the child, does not depend altogether on the question of whether he is a suitable person to have the care and custody of the child as counsel for respondent seem to contend. Tested by the foregoing rule, which we think is a wholesome one, do the facts in the case support the decree of the court? We think not. The court found, and the finding is supported by the evidence, that appellants, ever since the child was given into their custody, have 'kept, maintained, nursed, and supported him with the utmost care and tenderness and have formed a deep attachment and affection for him and are desirous of continuing to support and educate him \* \* \* and are amply able to maintain, educate, and support said child, and are in all respects fit and suitable persons to adopt him and to have his custody and control.' We do not wish to be understood as holding, or

even intimating, that the Hansens are unsuitable persons to have the care and custody of the child in question. What we do hold is that, Mrs. Hansen having voluntarily relinquished and surrendered her right to the care and custody of the child, the burden is on her to show that the parties who acquired the custody of the child by virtue and in pursuance of the relinquishment have in some way been derelict in their duty to the child, and that it would be better for the best interests of the child to take it out of their custody and return it to her. This she has wholly failed to do.” (p. 428)

Section 14-7-41, Utah Code Annotated 1943, reads as follows:

“No parent or guardian or other person, who by instrument of writing surrenders, or has surrendered heretofore, the custody of a child to any children’s aid society or institution, shall thereafter, contrary to the terms of such instrument, be entitled to custody or control or authority over, or any right to interfere with, any such child, and these same conditions shall prevail where the child is or has been delivered to a children’s aid society or institution by the action of any proper court.”

It will be noted that a parent who surrenders

the custody of a child to a children's aid society may not thereafter change his mind.

Section 14-4-4 of the Code is as follows:

"A legitimate child cannot be adopted without the consent of its parents, if living, nor an illegitimate child without the consent of its mother, if living, except that consent is not necessary from a father or mother who has been judicially deprived of the custody of the child on account of cruelty, neglect or desertion: *provided*, that the district court may order the adoption of any child, without notice to or consent in court of the parent or parents thereof, whenever it shall appear that the parent or parents whose consent would otherwise be required have theretofore, in writing, acknowledged before any officer authorized to take acknowledgment, released his or her or their control or custody of such child to any agency licensed to receive children for placement or adoption under Chapter 3 of this Title, and such agency consents, in writing, to such adoption."

It thus appears that there are but two ways in which a parent may give consent to the adoption of a child. (1) In the manner provided by Section 14-7-41, *supra.*, and (2) By appearing in court and consenting to the adoption. No express provision prohibits a change of mind by a parent

where he has appeared in court, yet it would seem consent given in court should be as final as consent given to a placement agency. Both agreements are in writing and the court is surely as able to judge whether the consent is voluntarily given as is the employee of the agency. It must be assumed in this case that the Court discharged its duty and if Appellant was acting under any emotional strain or coercion, we are certain that the court would not have permitted the Appellant to consent to the adoption.

We now proceed to discuss the authorities found in other jurisdictions. We believe that a majority of the authorities dealing with the question of the right of a parent to withdraw consent to adoption will be found in 138 ALR 1038, in 156 ALR 1011, and in the 1952 ALR Blue Book, Supplemental Decisions, 11th Issue. In discussing the cases hereinafter cited, we do so upon the premise that the Court's finding that no undue influence or coercion was used in obtaining Appellant's consent was correct.

It will be noted that the author states, in 138 ALR 1038, that in a majority of the jurisdictions where the matter has arisen the parent may arbitrarily effectively revoked consent. But even in

those cases it is said that in the reported decisions the question is left open whether in every situation the natural parent is entitled to arbitrarily withdraw consent after the adoption order has been made, but under this citation are many cases which hold to the contrary. See: *Wyness vs. Crowley*, 292 Mass. 461, 198 N.E. 758 in which the court said:

“... a natural parent who has duly consented to the adoption of a child by indorsing her consent upon the petition for adoption cannot thereafter arbitrarily withdraw her consent notwithstanding that at the time it is endeavored to revoke such consent the hearing has not been had on the merits of the petition and no final decree has been entered thereon.”

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